### Marshall University Marshall Digital Scholar

Theses, Dissertations and Capstones

1-1-2012

# On the Logic of Reverse Mathematics

Alaeddine Saadaoui saadaoui@live.marshall.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://mds.marshall.edu/etd Part of the Logic and Foundations Commons

### **Recommended** Citation

Saadaoui, Alaeddine, "On the Logic of Reverse Mathematics" (2012). Theses, Dissertations and Capstones. Paper 234.

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Marshall Digital Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses, Dissertations and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Marshall Digital Scholar. For more information, please contact <a href="mailto:shall.edu">shall.edu</a>.

### On the Logic of Reverse Mathematics

A thesis submitted to

the Graduate College of

Marshall University

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts in Mathematics

by Alaeddine Saadaoui

Approved by

Dr. Carl Mummert, Committee Chairperson Dr. John Drost Dr. Michael Schroeder

> Marshall University May 2012

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to acknowledge and extend my heartfelt gratitude to the following persons who have made the completion of this thesis possible:

The Chair of the mathematics department Dr. Alfred Arkinsete, for his vital encouragement and support.

My advisor Dr. Bonita Lawrence, for her understanding and assistance.

My thesis supervisor Dr. Carl Mummert, who has supported me throughout my thesis with his patience and his knowledge.

My mentor Dr. Anna Mummert, for the help that enriched my teaching experience.

All the math department faculty members and staff, for their assistance and help.

Most especially to my family and friends who have supported and encouraged me with their best wishes.

And to God, who made all things possible.

# CONTENTS

A	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS ii															
A	BST	RACT	vi													
1	INTRODUCTION															
	1.1	Propositional logic	2													
	1.2	Language of propositional logic	3													
	1.3	Summary of results	6													
<b>2</b>	S-L	S-LOGIC														
3	AP	PLICATIONS OF S-LOGIC	17													
	3.1	Second order arithmetic	17													
	3.2	Interpretation of second order arithmetic into S-logic	18													
	3.3	Topology	19													
	3.4	Interpretation of topology into S-logic	19													
	3.5	Other applications	20													
4	MO	DAL LOGIC AND STRICT IMPLICATION LOGIC	22													
	4.1	Language of modal logic	22													
	4.2	Modal logic rules	23													
	4.3	The semantics of modal logic	23													
	4.4	Relationship between S-logic and modal logic	24													
	4.5	Difference between S-logic and modal logic	25													

4.6	Strict implication logic	25							
4.7 Relationship between S-logic and strict implication logic									
REFERENCES									
CURRICULUM VITAE									

# LIST OF FIGURES

1	Diagram of implications	7
2	Inference rules for S-logic.	16
3	Excerpt from counterexamples in topology	21

### ABSTRACT

On the Logic of Reverse Mathematics

#### Alaeddine Saadaoui

The goal of reverse mathematics is to study the implication and non-implication relationships between theorems. These relationships have their own internal logic, allowing some implications and non-implications to be derived directly from others. The goal of this thesis is to characterize this logic in order to capture the relationships between specific mathematical works.

The results of our study are a finite set of rules for this logic and the corresponding soundness and completeness theorems. We also compare our logic with modal logic and strict implication logic. In addition, we explain two applications of S-logic in topology and second order arithmetic.

### Chapter 1

### INTRODUCTION

The goal of reverse mathematics is to find the weakest set of axioms that are capable of proving a theorem T and to characterize the exact strength of these axioms. To start, we build a weak axiom system B known as the **base system** which is too weak to prove T, but strong enough to state it. The next step consists of finding an axiom system A that is stronger than B and is able to prove T. To show that A is *required* to prove T, we need to show that T is provable from A and T itself implies A, if B is assumed. The second proof shows that A is the weakest axiom system able to prove T. In other words, any system that proves T extends A.

In reverse mathematics, researchers usually use subsystems of second order arithmetic to formalize the base system and theorems they study. In second order arithmetic, objects are natural numbers or sets of natural numbers. The most frequently used subsystems of second order arithmetic in reverse mathematics are known as the "big five subsystems of second order arithmetic" and are described by Simpson [4]. These subsystems are ordered in terms of logical strength, which means that a system T is stronger than a system S if B + T proves S. In our study, we will be interested in these relationships. We will build a deductive system based on a logic that we call S-logic. We will also see that S-logic is different from propositional logic.

To manage and organize relations among reverse mathematical principles, we can use applications created for this purpose. For instance, the Reverse Mathematics Zoo program, created by Damir Dzhafarov,<sup>1</sup> generates a diagram showing known results. The relation could be an implication, a strict implication or a non-implication. A strict implication means that if we have two systems A and B, then A strictly implies B when A implies B and B does not imply A. Figure 1 shows an example of a diagram, which we will not discuss, generated by the Reverse Mathematics Zoo program. The program also regenerated diagrams that were created by hand. The input of the program is a database containing known facts about reverse mathematical principles. By parsing the database in different ways, different diagrams are generated. The benefits of this program are to visualize and capture the relations between different mathematical theorems. However, Dzhafarov indicates that the program has optimization issues that cannot be solved without knowledge of the logic behind the relationships. The goal of our study is to determine the logic behind the relationships between mathematical works.

Our work extends a previous study by Sean Sovine [5], who focused on particular implication and non-implication statements that have the forms of  $A \vdash B$  and  $A \nvDash B$ , and discovered two inference rules. However, the statements studied by Sovine do not contain conjunctions in their hypotheses. We will extend his work by studying implication and non-implication statements which may have conjunctions in their hypotheses.

#### **1.1** Propositional logic

In this section, we will introduce propositional logic, which is a standard logic used by logicians. We have two reasons for giving detailed introduction to this logic. The first reason is that the structure of a statement in S-logic is different from the structure of a statement in propositional logic. The second reason is that the semantics of non-implication statements in S-logic are different from the semantics of non-implication statements in propositional logic. We will define the language of S-logic in chapter 2, at which point we will describe the differences between the two logics.

Propositional logic, also called sentential logic, is a formal logic used to study specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The zoo program, the database and the created diagrams are available on the website http://www.nd.edu/~ddzhafar/The\_Zoo.html.

propositions, also called statements or sentences, to derive more complicated propositions and study the logical properties to derive them. Enderton [1] provides a general reference for propositional logic. The derivation is done by using specific formation rules called **inference rules**, and the result of the derivation is called a **theorem**. The derivation can be considered as a proof of the theorem. The interpretation of a proposition is limited to two possible values: true or false, and its truth or falsity is determined by the truth or falsity of its atomic parts.

### 1.2 Language of propositional logic

#### Statements and symbols

In propositional logic, a statement is a sequence of objects called **symbols**, and the set of all possible symbols is called the **alphabet**. We have two types of symbols: **variables** and **sentential connective symbols**. A sentence symbol, also called a variable, is usually represented by a letter used to refer to a proposition that is part of the original one. A sentence symbol could have a value of true or false, but it does not provide a logical description of the relationship between the different parts of a statement. A sentential connective symbol, also called a logical symbol, is used to define the logical relationship within a sentence. The logical symbols are the negation symbol  $\neg$ , the conjunction symbol  $\land$ , the disjunction symbol  $\lor$  (inclusive or), the conditional symbol  $\rightarrow$  (if..then..) and the bi-conditional symbol  $\leftrightarrow$  (if and only if). To group a subset of symbols, we use the left and right parentheses.

In the following examples, we will take declarative English sentences to translate them to propositions.

**Example 1.1.** As a first example, the sentence "The weather is sunny" could be translated in propositional logic to one non logical symbol, say, A. So the sentence "The weather is not sunny" is a negation of the first sentence and it will be  $\neg A$ . If we have a compound sentence, we break it down into atomic parts that can be expressed in propositional logic. For example, the sentence "The weather is sunny and the sky is blue" could be divided to two parts "The weather is sunny" and "The sky is blue". We already assigned a symbol A to "The weather is sunny" and we will assign a second symbol B to "The sky is blue". The two parts of the sentence are connected by the conjunction "and" which will be translated to the connective symbol  $\wedge$  to get the proposition  $A \wedge B$  for the whole sentence.

The sequence of symbols of a sentence has to be written in a defined way by using specific rules. Such sequences are called **well formed formulas** or wffs. For example, the formula " $(A_1 \rightarrow A_2 \lor A_3)$ " is a wff and the sequence " $) \rightarrow A_2)$ " is not.

A symbol cannot be a finite sequence of two or more symbols. For this reason we call a finite sequence of symbols an **expression**. For example  $(\neg A_1)$  is an expression defined by the sequence of symbols  $\{(, \neg, A_1, )\}$ .

#### Truth assignment

A truth assignment for a set S of sentence symbols is a function v defined by  $v: S \rightarrow \{F, T\}$ . F is called **falsity** and T is called **truth**. We also use 0 and 1 instead of F and T, respectively. The function v assigns to each symbol of S either T or F. When v(A) = T, we say that v satisfies A.

**Example 1.2.** Let S be a set of symbols such that  $S = \{A_1, A_2, A_3\}$ . One truth assignment for S is the v such that  $v(A_1) = T$ ,  $v(A_2) = F$  and  $v(A_3) = F$ .

### Truth assignment for well formed formulas

The well formed formulas are built by using the sentence and connective symbols. So we can assign the values F or T to a well formed formula. Suppose  $\overline{S}$  is the set of wffs built by using the symbols from S. We will define the truth assignment  $\overline{v}: \overline{S} \to \{F, T\}$  such that:

1. 
$$\forall A \in S, \bar{v}(A) = v(A).$$
  
2.  $\bar{v}(\neg A) = \begin{cases} T & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = F, \\ F & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = T. \end{cases}$ 

$$3. \ \bar{v}(A \wedge B) = \begin{cases} T & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = T \text{ and } \bar{v}(B) = T, \\ F & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = F \text{ or } \bar{v}(B) = F \text{ (or both)}. \end{cases}$$

$$4. \ \bar{v}(A \vee B) = \begin{cases} T & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = T \text{ or } \bar{v}(B) = T \text{ (or both)}, \\ F & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = F \text{ and } \bar{v}(B) = F. \end{cases}$$

$$5. \ \bar{v}(A \to B) = \begin{cases} F & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = T \text{ and } \bar{v}(B) = F, \\ T & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = F \text{ or if } \bar{v}(A) = T \text{ and } \bar{v}(B) = T. \end{cases}$$

$$6. \ \bar{v}(A \leftrightarrow B) = \begin{cases} T & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = F \text{ or if } \bar{v}(A) = T \text{ and } \bar{v}(B) = T. \\ F & \text{if } \bar{v}(A) = F \text{ or if } \bar{v}(A) = T \text{ and } \bar{v}(B) = T. \end{cases}$$

**Example 1.3.** Let  $S = \{A_1, A_2, A_3\}$ ,  $\overline{S} = \{A_1 \lor A_2, \neg A_3 \land A_2, A_2 \to \neg A_1\}$ . Let v be a truth assignment for S such that  $v(A_1) = T$ ,  $v(A_2) = F$  and  $v(A_3) = T$ . Let  $\overline{v}$  be the truth assignment for  $\overline{S}$ . We have:

1. 
$$v(A_1) = T$$
 implies  $\bar{v}(A_1) = T$  and  $v(A_2) = F$  implies  $\bar{v}(A_2) = F$ , so  $\bar{v}(A_1 \lor A_2) = T$ .

2.  $v(A_3) = T$  implies  $\bar{v}(A_3) = T$ , so  $\bar{v}(\neg A_3) = F$  and  $\bar{v}(A_2) = F$  implies  $\bar{v}(\neg A_3 \land A_2) = F$ .

3. 
$$\bar{v}(A_1) = T$$
, so  $\bar{v}(\neg A_1) = F$  and  $\bar{v}(A_2) = F$  implies  $\bar{v}(A_2 \rightarrow \neg A_1) = T$ .

#### **Tautologies**

Let S be a set of formulas and A be a formula. We say that S **tautologically implies** A and we write  $S \vDash A$  if every truth assignment that satisfies every formula of S also satisfies A.

**Example 1.4.** If we have  $A \in S$  then  $S \models A$ . Because if we have a truth assignment that satisfies every symbol of S, it will also satisfy A as  $A \in S$ .

Suppose  $S = \{A, A \to B\}$ . If there exist a truth assignment  $\bar{v}$  such that  $\bar{v}(A) = T$  and  $\bar{v}(A \to B) = T$ , we get  $\bar{v}(B) = T$ . Thus, we can conclude  $S \models B$ .

### 1.3 Summary of results

In the remainder of this thesis, by studying the nature of implication and non-implication relations, we define a logic that is capable of stating these relations. As we have two types of relationships, we define the rules of each type, prove their soundness and their completeness.

The second chapter presents S-logic and contains two parts. The first part focuses on positive statements and defines their rules. The second part of this chapter focuses on negative statements and also presents its rules. For each rule, we prove its soundness and at the end of each part we prove the completeness of the rules.

The third chapter shows two applications of S-logic. The first example is an application in second order arithmetic and the second example is an application in topology. For each example, we define the field, its semantics, and we show all steps needed to interpret each field into S-logic. Also, we prove the properties of S-logic that we used for each example.

The fourth chapter presents a comparison between S-logic, modal logic and strict implication logic. First, we define each logic and describe its semantics. Second, we define the interpretation between the three logics. Finally, we discuss the difference between S-logic and the two other logics.



Figure 1: Diagram of implications in reverse mathematics generated by the Reverse Mathematics Zoo program. The diagram shows reverse mathematics of some mathematical principles. Arrows indicate implications and double arrows indicate strict implications.

### Chapter 2

### S-LOGIC

In this chapter we will introduce S-logic, a new logic we create to study the relationships between theorems. We first define the language of S-logic, its semantics, and several inference rules. We prove the soundness of each rule as it is defined, and at the end we prove the completeness of all the rules together.

This chapter is divided into three parts. The first part contains the definitions of the different terms of S-logic. The second part contains the rules for positive statements, and the last part contains the rules for negative statements.

**Definition 2.1.** An alphabet, also called a set of symbols, represents a set of variables. Each variable is represented by a letter. A sequent is defined by a finite set of variables  $\Gamma$  and a variable x. There are two types of sequents: A positive sequent has the form of  $\Gamma \vdash x$  and a negative sequent has the form of  $\Gamma \nvDash x$ .

An initial difference between S-logic and propositional logic is that any sequent in S-logic has the form of  $\Gamma \vdash x$  or  $\Gamma \nvDash x$ , where x is a letter. Although  $\Gamma$  is a set of variables, we think of it as a conjunction of variables. However, in propositional logic, we can have more complicated statements like  $\neg(A \rightarrow B) \rightarrow (C \rightarrow \neg D)$ .

The intended meaning of  $\Gamma \vdash x$  is that if all variables of  $\Gamma$  are true, then x is true. So every situation that makes  $\Gamma$  true also makes x true.  $\Gamma \nvDash x$  is intended to mean that there is a situation where all variables of  $\Gamma$  are true and x is false. In standard logic models,  $\Gamma$ implies x is defined by the formula  $(\Lambda \Gamma) \to x$ , where  $\Lambda \Gamma$  is the conjunction of the formulas in  $\Gamma$ . Note that the formula for " $\Gamma$  does not imply x" is  $\neg((\Lambda \Gamma) \to x)$  and means  $\Gamma$  is true and x is false, in propositional logic, which is different from the meaning of a negative sequent in S-logic. The next definition is about the function that assigns the value of true or false to each variable.

**Definition 2.2.** An *S*-theory is a fixed choice of an alphabet and a particular set of sequents with letters from this alphabet.

The focus of this chapter is to determine which other sequents can be deduced from a given S-theory.

**Example 2.3.** We can define an S-theory by an alphabet  $\mathcal{A}$  and a set of sequents  $S_0$  where  $\mathcal{A} = \{A, B, C, D, E, F\}$  and  $S_0 = \{A \vdash B, B \vdash C, \{C, D\} \vdash F, D \vdash E, \{A, E\} \vdash F, A \nvDash F\}.$ 

**Definition 2.4.** A world  $w : A \to \{T, F\}$  is a function that makes each letter true or false. If S is an S-theory, an **S-world** is a world that makes every positive sequent of S true.

Suppose  $\Gamma$  is a set of letters and A is a letter. Given a world w, we say w makes  $\Gamma \vdash A$ true if either w makes some letters of  $\Gamma$  false or w makes A true. w makes  $\Gamma \nvDash A$  true if wmakes all letters of  $\Gamma$  true and A false.

Suppose we have a set of variables  $\Gamma$  and a world w, we say that w makes  $\Gamma$  true if w makes every letter of  $\Gamma$  true.

A world in S-logic is like a truth assignment in standard propositional logic. The only difference between a world and a truth assignment is that a world assigns to both a letter and sequent the value of true or false. However, in standard propositional logic we have a function that assigns the value of true or false to variables and another function that does the same for formulas.

The concept of an S-world is important because we need it to define the semantics of S-logic.

**Definition 2.5.** Suppose S is an S-theory. S is called **consistent** if there exists a set of worlds W such that:

• For every world  $w \in W$  and every positive sequent  $\Gamma \vdash x \in S$ , w makes  $\Gamma \vdash x$  true.

• For every negative sequent  $\Gamma \nvDash x \in S$ , there exists a world  $w \in W$  such that w makes  $\Gamma \nvDash x$  true.

In other words, each negative sequent must be true at least one S-world. If W is a set of worlds that verifies S is consistent we say that W is sufficient for S.

A set of worlds W sufficient for S guarantees the consistency of S. If S contains only positive sequents then W could be empty. If S contains both positive and negative sequents, then W must at least contain enough set of S-worlds to make each negative sequent true in at least one S-world. A single S-world could make more than one negative sequent true and a negative sequent could be true in more than one S-world.

We are only interested in consistent sets of sequents. We will first define the rules of S-logic for positive sequents and second for negative sequents. For each rule we will prove its soundness. **Soundness** of a rule means that a set of worlds sufficient for a set of sequents is also sufficient for the new set deduced by applying the rule. In other words, the rule preserves consistency in a strong way.

**Example 2.6.** Let  $S_0$  be the theory  $\{A \vdash B, B \vdash C, \{C, D\} \vdash F, D \vdash E, \{A, E\} \vdash F, A \nvDash F\}$ from Example 2.3. We will suppose  $S_0$  is consistent and a set of worlds W is sufficient for  $S_0$ . As  $S_0$  contains one negative sequent  $A \nvDash F$ , W has to contain at least one S-world that makes  $A \nvDash F$  true.

We now begin to define our deduction rules.

The I Rule (Identity). The identity rule states: for each letter A,

$$\overline{A \vdash A}$$
 (I)

In plain language, we can deduce  $A \vdash A$  without any hypothesis.

**Theorem 2.7.** (Soundness of I) If S is a consistent S-theory and A is a letter from the alphabet of S, then the set  $S' = S \cup \{A \vdash A\}$  is also consistent.

*Proof.* It is clear that every S-world makes  $A \vdash A$  true, so if S is a consistent S-theory, then  $S' = S \cup \{A \vdash A\}$  is also consistent. **Example 2.8.** Because  $S_0$  is consistent,  $S' = S_0 \cup \{A \vdash A\}$  is also consistent.

The MP Rule (Modus ponens). The Modus ponens rule is defined by:

$$\frac{\{A_1,\ldots,A_n\}\vdash X \quad \{B_1,\ldots,B_k\}\vdash A_1}{\{B_1,\ldots,B_k,A_2,\ldots,A_n\}\vdash X} (MP)$$

In plain language, we suppose that we have an S-theory S. If  $\{A_1, \ldots, A_n\} \vdash X$  is in S and  $\{B_1, \ldots, B_k\} \vdash A_1$  is in S then we can deduce  $\{B_1, \ldots, B_k, A_2, \ldots, A_n\} \vdash X$  from S.

The MP rule is important to deduce positive sequents from a set of positive sequents.

**Example 2.9.** By using the set of sequents  $S_0$ ,  $A \vdash B$  and  $B \vdash C$  imply  $A \vdash C$ . Also,  $B \vdash C$  and  $\{C, D\} \vdash F$  imply  $\{B, D\} \vdash F$ .

The next theorem states the soundness of the MP rule.

**Theorem 2.10.** (Soundness of MP) Suppose we have a consistent theory S, a set of variables  $\Gamma = \{a_1, ..., a_n\}$  such that  $\Gamma \vdash b \in S$ , and a set of variables  $\Gamma' = \{c_1, ..., c_m\}$  such that  $\Gamma' \vdash a_1 \in S$ . Let  $S' = S \cup \{\Gamma \cup \Gamma' - \{a_1\} \vdash b\}$ . If a set of worlds W is sufficient for S then W is also sufficient for S'.

Proof. Let W be a set of worlds sufficient for S and fix a world w in W. We know that every sequent  $X \vdash y \in S$  is also a sequent in S'. For  $\Gamma \cup \Gamma' - \{a_1\} \vdash b$ , take w that makes  $\Gamma \cup \Gamma' - \{a_1\}$  true, so it will make all variables of  $\Gamma'$  true. Therefore we have  $w(c_j) = T$  for all  $j, 1 \leq j \leq m$ . As  $\{c_1, ..., c_m\} \vdash a_1$ , this implies  $w(a_1) = T$  because S is consistent and we know that  $w(a_j) = T$  for  $1 < j \leq n$ . So  $w(a_j) = T$  for all  $j, 1 \leq j \leq n$ , which implies that  $\Gamma$  is true. And since W is sufficient for S, we get w(b) = T.

For any sequent  $X \nvDash y$  of  $S', X \nvDash y$  is also an element of S and as S is consistent, there exist at least one world that makes X true and y false.

**Example 2.11.** Let  $S_0$  be the theory from Example 2.3. Assume a set of worlds W is sufficient for  $S_0$ . Let  $\Gamma = \{C, D\}$  so we have  $\Gamma \vdash F \in S_0$ . Let  $\Gamma' = \{B\}$  and we get  $\Gamma' \vdash C \in S_0$ . By applying MP rule, we obtain W is also sufficient for  $S_0 \cup \{\Gamma \cup \Gamma' - \{C\} \vdash F\}$ , which means that W is also sufficient for  $S_0 \cup \{\{B, D\} \vdash F\}$ .

The W Rule (Weakening). The weakening rule is defined by:

$$\frac{\Gamma \vdash X \quad \Gamma \subseteq \Delta}{\Delta \vdash X} (\mathbf{W})$$

In plain language, we suppose we have an S-theory S. If  $\Gamma \vdash X$  is in S and  $\Gamma \subseteq \Delta$  then we can deduce  $\Delta \vdash X$  from S.

The W rule reflects that  $\Gamma \vdash X$  is stronger than  $\Delta \vdash X$  for any set of variables  $\Delta$  such that  $\Gamma \subseteq \Delta$ , and  $\Delta$  does not change the consistency of S' formed by S and  $\Delta \vdash X$ . The following theorem states the soundness of W rule.

**Theorem 2.12.** Suppose we have an S-theory S, a sequent  $\Gamma \vdash b$  of S, a set of variables  $\Gamma'$  and a set  $S' = S \cup \{\Gamma \cup \Gamma' \vdash b\}$ . If a set of S-worlds W is sufficient for S then W is sufficient for S'.

*Proof.* (Soundness of W rule) Take an S-world w. If w(b) = T, then w satisfies  $\Gamma' \vdash b$ . Otherwise, because w satisfies  $\Gamma \vdash b$ ,  $w(\Gamma) = F$  so  $w(\Gamma \cup \Gamma') = F$  and therefore w satisfies  $\Gamma \cup \Gamma' \vdash b$ .

**Example 2.13.** Let  $\Gamma = \{A\}$  and  $\Gamma' = \{E\}$ . Thus  $\Gamma \vdash B \in S_0$ . As W is sufficient for  $S_0$ , by applying the W rule, we see that W is also sufficient for  $\Gamma \cup \Gamma' \vdash B$ , which means W is also sufficient for  $\{A, E\} \vdash B$ .

**Definition 2.14.** A sequent  $\sigma$  can be **derived** from S if there is a sequence of sequents such that each is either in S or is derived from previous sequents by a single rule, and the sequence ends with  $\sigma$ .

The next theorem states the completeness of the I, MP, and W rules for positive sequents. **Completeness** means that if every set of worlds sufficient for a set of sequents S is also sufficient for a positive sequent  $\sigma$ , then  $\sigma$  could be deduced from S by using the rules of S-logic.

**Theorem 2.15.** (Completeness of I, MP and W rules for positive sequents) Let S be a set of positive sequents. If every S-world makes a positive sequent  $\sigma$  true then  $\sigma$  can be derived from S by using some sequence of the I, MP and W rules. *Proof.* The idea of the proof is to take a sequent  $\sigma$  such that every S-world makes  $\sigma$  true and prove that we can derive  $\sigma$  from S. Suppose  $\Gamma \vdash b$  is an arbitrary sequent. We have two cases:

**Case 1:** If  $b \in \Gamma$ , then by using the I rule,  $b \vdash b$  can be derived from S. By applying the W rule on  $b \vdash b$ ,  $\Gamma \vdash b$  can be derived from S.

**Case 2:** If  $b \notin \Gamma$ , we prove the contrapositive of the theorem, which says that if we cannot derive  $\Gamma \vdash b$  from S by using the MP, I and W rules then there is a world satisfying S and  $\Gamma$  in which b is false.

We define a world w as follows. The world w makes every variable in  $\Gamma$  true and b false. because b is not in  $\Gamma$ . For any variable  $x \notin \Gamma \cup \{b\}$ , if  $\Gamma \vdash x \in S$  we make w(x) = T, otherwise we make w(x) = F.

We need to check that w satisfies S. In other words, if  $\Sigma \vdash c \in S$  and every variable in  $\Sigma$  is true in w, then c is true in w. If  $\Sigma \subseteq \Gamma$ , apply the W rule to deduce  $\Sigma \cup \Gamma \vdash c$ , which means w(c) = T.

Now, suppose  $\Sigma$  is not a subset of  $\Gamma$ . Let  $\Sigma = \{v_1, ..., v_n\}$  and  $\Gamma = \{w_1, ..., w_k\}$ . For each variable  $v_i \in \Sigma$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq n$ ,  $w(v_i) = T$ , so  $v_i \in \Gamma$  or  $\Gamma \vdash v_i \in S$ . So by rearranging the elements of  $\Sigma$ ,  $\Sigma = \Gamma' \cup \{v'_1, ..., v'_p\}$  such that  $\Gamma' \subseteq \Gamma$ ,  $\Gamma \vdash v'_i \in S, 1 \leq i \leq p$  and then  $\Gamma' \cup \{v'_1, ..., v'_p\} \vdash c$ . By applying repeatedly the MP rule on each variable  $v'_i, 1 \leq i \leq p$  we deduce  $\Gamma' \cup \Gamma \vdash c$  and therefore  $\Gamma \vdash c$ . As the  $w(\Gamma) = T$ , w(c) = T.

By analyzing the proof of Theorem 2.15, we can obtain a stronger result stated in the next lemma.

**Lemma 2.16.** If S is consistent,  $\Delta \nvDash c$  is in S and x is such that S does not derive  $\Delta \vdash x$ , then there is an S-world in which  $\Delta$  is true, x is false and c is false.

*Proof.* We cannot derive  $\Delta \vdash x$  from S so by Theorem 2.15, there exists a world w such that  $w(\Delta) = T$  and w(x) = F.  $\Delta \nvDash c$  is in S, so the same world makes c false.

Next, we define a rule for negative sequents, then prove its soundness and completeness with the previous rules.

The N rule(Negativity). The negativity rule is defined by:

$$\frac{\Delta \nvDash c \qquad \Delta \cup \{b\} \vdash c \qquad \Delta \vdash \Gamma}{\Gamma \nvDash b}$$
(N)

In plain language, the rule means that if we have an S-theory  $S, \Delta \nvDash c$  is in  $S, \Delta, b \vdash c$  is in S and  $\Delta \vdash \Gamma$  is in S then we can deduce  $\Gamma \nvDash b$  from S. To prove the soundness of the N rule, we need to find a world w such that  $w(\Gamma) = T$  and w(b) = F.

**Theorem 2.17.** (Soundness of the N rule) If W is a set of S-worlds sufficient for S and  $\Gamma \nvDash b$  is derived from S by the N rule. Then W is sufficient for  $S \cup \{\Gamma \nvDash b\}$ .

Proof. The sequent  $\Delta \nvDash c \in S$ , so there exists an S-world w in W such that  $w(\Delta) = T$  and w(c) = F. The sequent  $\Delta \vdash \Gamma \in S$  so  $w(\Gamma) = true$ . We need to prove that w(b) = false. We proceed by contradiction. Assume w(b) = T, thus  $\Gamma \vdash b$  can be deduced from S. By deduction, we obtain  $\Delta \vdash b$ . As we have  $\Delta, b \vdash c \in S$ , by applying the MP rule we get  $\Delta \vdash c$ , a contradiction. So we have w(b) = false and therefore w satisfies  $\Gamma \nvDash b$ .  $\Box$ 

**Example 2.18.** If we take the set of sequents  $S_0$  from Example 2.3 and consider  $\Delta = \{A\}, \Gamma = \{A\}, c = F, b = E$ . From  $S_0$  we have:

$$\frac{A \nvdash F}{A \nvdash E} \quad \frac{\{A, E\} \vdash F}{A \vdash A} \quad \stackrel{(I)}{(N)}$$

First, we derive  $A \vdash A$  by using the I rule. Then, we derive  $A \nvDash E$  by using  $A \vdash A$  and two sequents in  $S_0$ .

The next theorem states the completeness of I, MP, W and N rules.

**Theorem 2.19.** Suppose S is a consistent S-theory. If every set of worlds that is sufficient for S is also sufficient for  $\Gamma \nvDash b$ , then we can derive  $\Gamma \nvDash b$  from S.

*Proof.* We will prove the theorem by contraposition. We assume we cannot derive  $\Gamma \nvDash b$ from S and we prove that there is a set of S-worlds sufficient for S, but not for  $S \cup \{\Gamma \nvDash b\}$ . Let  $S^N = \{\sigma \in S : \sigma \text{ is a negative sequent}\}.$ 

Let  $S_1 = \{ \sigma \in S^N : \text{there is an S-world } w \text{ such that } w(\sigma) = T \text{ and } w(\Gamma) = F \}$ . If  $S^N = S_1$  then we get a set of worlds sufficient for S but not for  $\Gamma \nvDash b$ . If  $\sigma = \Delta_{\sigma} \nvDash c_{\sigma}$  is in  $S^N - S_1$ , every w that makes  $\sigma$  true makes  $\Gamma$  true. By using Lemma 2.16, we can derive  $\Delta_{\sigma} \vdash \Gamma$ .

Let  $S_2$  be the set of all negative sequents  $\sigma \in S^N - S_1$  such that if  $\sigma = \Delta_{\sigma} \nvDash c_{\sigma}$  there is an S-world satisfying  $\Delta_{\sigma}$  and b in which  $c_{\sigma}$  is false. If  $S^N = S_1 \cup S_2$ , we get a set of worlds sufficient for  $S^N$  but not for  $\Gamma \nvDash b$ . Otherwise if  $\sigma = \Delta_{\sigma} \nvDash c_{\sigma}$  is in  $S^N - (S_1 \cup S_2)$ , every S-world satisfying  $\Delta_{\sigma}$  and b makes  $c_{\sigma}$  true, so we can derive  $\Delta_{\sigma}, b \vdash c_{\sigma}$ . By using the N rule, we can derive  $\Gamma \nvDash b$  which is impossible by assumption.

Figure 2 shows all the rules of S-logic. The next theorem summarizes our results.

**Theorem 2.20.** The rules I, MP, W and N are sound and complete in the following sense:

- A positive sequent σ can be derived from an S-theory with these rules if and only if σ holds in every S-world.
- 2. A negative sequent  $\sigma$  can be derived from a consistent S-theory if and only if every set of worlds sufficient for S is also sufficient for  $\sigma$ .

Identity:

$$\overline{A \vdash A} (\mathbf{I})$$

Weakening:

$$\frac{\Gamma \vdash X \quad \Gamma \subseteq \Delta}{\Delta \vdash X} (\mathbf{W})$$

Modus ponens:

$$\frac{\{A_1,\ldots,A_n\} \vdash X \quad \{B_1,\ldots,B_k\} \vdash A_1}{\{B_1,\ldots,B_k,A_2,\ldots,A_n\} \vdash X} (MP)$$

Negativity:

$$\frac{\Delta \nvdash c \qquad \Delta \cup \{b\} \vdash c \qquad \Delta \vdash \Gamma}{\Gamma \nvdash b} (\mathbf{N})$$

Figure 2: Inference rules for S-logic.

### Chapter 3

### APPLICATIONS OF S-LOGIC

The goal of S-logic is to study the relations between particular mathematical theorems. S-logic can be used in two different ways. The first way is to deduce new theorems from existing ones, and the second way is to check whether a theorem is immediately provable from other ones. To be able to apply S-logic, we need to construct from the existing theorems an alphabet, a set of sequents and a set of models. A model makes each statement true or false, so it gives a world in S-logic. The set of statements that we want to study will be the S-theory.

Because S-logic is an effective deductive system, it can be implemented by creating a computer program that uses known facts and the rules of S-logic to deduce new statements or check whether a statement could be deduced. In the following examples, we will show two applications of S-logic. The first example demonstrates an application of S-logic in reverse mathematics; the second demonstrates an application of S-logic in topology.

#### **3.1** Second order arithmetic

**Definition 3.1.** Second order arithmetic is an axiomatic system designed for two kinds of variables: the natural numbers and the subsets of natural numbers. The formal system of second order arithmetic is denoted by  $Z_2$ .

A **model** of second order arithmetic, also called **structure**, is a set of objects that are natural numbers or sets of natural numbers.

The two following theorems are well known and proved by Simpson [4].

**Theorem 3.2.** (Completeness theorem) Let B be the base system and A be a set of axioms. A formula X is provable from B + A if and only if X holds in every model of B + A.

**Theorem 3.3.** (Soundness theorem) Let B be the base system and A be a set of axioms. B + A is sound if whenever a formula X is deduced from A + B, every model satisfying A + B satisfies X.

#### 3.2 Interpretation of second order arithmetic into S-logic

First, we need to pick a collection of formulas  $A_1, A_2, ..., A_n$  corresponding to subsystems of  $Z_2$ . The alphabet A will be the set of these formulas and a model M will be a world in S-logic. Let  $\Gamma$  be a conjunction of formulas and X be a formula. An S-theory  $T_1$  will be defined as follows:

- 1. Put  $\Gamma \vdash X$  into  $T_1$  if there exists a proof in literature such that  $B+\Gamma$  proves X.
- 2. Put  $\Gamma \nvDash X$  into  $T_1$  if there is a model M, constructed in the literature, where M satisfies  $\Gamma$  and not X.

The set of sequents of  $T_1$  has to be fixed, so we take a fixed set of results from the literature to construct  $T_1$ .

**Lemma 3.4.** Each model M of the base system of  $Z_2$  gives a world in S-logic that satisfies  $T_1$ .

*Proof.* For any  $\Gamma \nvDash X \in T_1$ , there exists a model M such that M satisfies B and  $\Gamma$  but not X, so M is a world satisfying  $\Gamma$  but not X.

Let  $W_1$  be the set of all models in literature that satisfy the base system B.

**Lemma 3.5.**  $W_1$  is sufficient for  $T_1$ .

*Proof.* By construction, for every sequent  $\Gamma \nvDash X \in T_1$ , there exists a model  $M \in W_1$  such that M satisfies  $\Gamma$  and B but not X.

Let cl(T) be the closure of an S-theory T.

**Theorem 3.6.**  $W_1$  is sufficient for  $cl(T_1)$  under the rules of S-logic.

*Proof.*  $W_1$  is sufficient for  $T_1$  and the rules of S-logic are sound. Therefore by Theorem 2.19,  $W_1$  is sufficient for  $cl(T_1)$  under the rules of S-logic.

 $T_1$  is limited to the literature and the proofs that we have discovered so far. By contrast, we can construct a new S-theory  $T_2$  such that:

- 1.  $A_2$  is the alphabet of  $T_2$  such that  $A_2$  is the set of all formulas of  $Z_2$ .
- 2.  $\Gamma \vdash X \in T_2$  if there is a proof of X in principle assuming  $\Gamma$  and B.
- 3.  $\Gamma \nvDash X \in T_2$  if there exists a model M that makes B and  $\Gamma$  true but X false.

The S-theory  $T_2$  contains all information and  $T_1$  just contains partial information that we are sure of, so  $T_1$  is a subset of  $T_2$ . Similarly,  $W_1$  is the set of models discovered so far, so we will define the set of models  $W_2$  for  $T_2$  such that  $W_2$  is the set of every possible model.

**Lemma 3.7.**  $W_2$  is sufficient for  $T_2$ .

**Theorem 3.8.**  $W_2$  is sufficient for  $cl(T_2)$  under the rules of S-logic.

The proof of this theorem is similar to the proof of Theorem 3.6.

### 3.3 Topology

In this section, we apply S-logic to capture the relationship between topological properties of topological spaces. We will define an alphabet and show the steps to construct the S-theory.

### 3.4 Interpretation of topology into S-logic

We take a set of properties  $P_1, ..., P_n$  of topological spaces. The alphabet  $A_3$  is the set of these properties, and a topological space M, for example, gives a world in S-logic. Let  $\Gamma$ be a conjunction of topological properties from  $A_3$ , X be a topological property in  $A_3$ . We will construct the S-theory  $T_3$  as follows:

1. We put  $\Gamma \vdash X$  into  $T_3$  if there is a proof in literature for  $\Gamma \vdash X$ .

2. We put  $\Gamma \nvDash X$  into  $T_3$  if there is a topological space M in literature that satisfies  $\Gamma$  and not X.

Figure 3 shows counterexamples for a fixed set of topological properties that can be used to construct negative sequents.

**Theorem 3.9.** Let  $W_3$  be the set of topological spaces sufficient for  $T_3$ .  $W_3$  is sufficient for  $cl(T_3)$  under the rules of S-logic.

The proof of this theorem is similar to the proof of Theorem 3.6.

The S-theory  $T_3$  just contains the statements for which we have proofs or counterexamples. We can construct another S-theory  $T_4$  such that:

- 1.  $A_4$  is the alphabet of  $T_4$  and it is the set of all topological properties.  $W_4$  is the set of all topological spaces.
- 2. We put  $\Gamma \vdash X$  into  $T_4$  if there is a proof for X in principle assuming  $\Gamma$ .
- We put Γ ⊭ X into T<sub>4</sub> if there is a topological space M in W<sub>4</sub> that satisfies Γ and not X.

**Lemma 3.10.**  $W_4$  is sufficient for  $T_4$ .

**Theorem 3.11.**  $W_4$  is sufficient for  $cl(T_4)$  under the rules of S-logic.

The proof of this theorem is similar to the proof of Theorem 3.6.

### 3.5 Other applications

S-logic can be applied in other situations where we have a set of objects and a set of properties such that we can construct the set of worlds from the set of objects and the S-theory from the relationships between the different properties. The set of worlds has to be sufficient to verify non-implication relationships.

	22	21	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	œ	~	6	57	4	ω	ง	1	
	-	0	-	-	<b></b>	-		-	H	1			-		-		0		0	-	H	<b></b>	T <sub>0</sub>
	Ļ	0		1	-	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	0		0		0	-	-	Ļ	T
	0	0	С	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	c	0	0		0		0	-	-	-	T <sub>2</sub>
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	0		0		0	<b>,</b> ,		-	T <sub>21</sub>
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	0		1		-	Ļ	-	1	T <sub>3</sub>
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	0				-	-	-	H	T <sub>21</sub>
	0	0	0	0	0	-			1			H	0	0	0		-		1	-	H	H	T
	0	0	0	0	0	-		-	<b></b>	-			0	0	0		1		<b></b>	-	<b>,</b>	H	T₅
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	,	0	0	0	0		0		0		H	-	URYSOHN
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	0		0		0	-	-		SEMIREGULAR
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	0		0		0		-	-	REGULAR
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0		0		0	<b></b>	-	-	COMPLETELY REGULAR
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	0		0		0		-	1	Normal
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	(	0	0	0	0		0		0	-	-		COMPLETELY NORMAL
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	(	0	0	0	0		0		0		<del>,</del>		PERFECTLY NORMAL
	H	0	0	-		-		-	-		,		0	0	-		0		<b>,</b>	0	0		Compact
	1	0	0	-	-				-	-	,	-	0	-	-				-	0	-	-	σ-Сомраст
	<b></b>		μ	Ļ	1	<b>h1</b>		-	1		,	-	0		1		-		-	0	-		Lindelöf
	1	0	0	-				<b>***</b>	<b></b>		,		0	0	-		0		<b></b> 4	0	0	1	COUNTABLY COMPACT
	1	0	0	-	1			-	1	1	,	-	0	0			0		-	0	0	-	SEQUENTIALLY COMPACT
	1	H	0			-			-	<b></b>	•		0	0						0	0		WEAK. COUNT. СОМРАСТ
	Ţ		F		1	-		<b></b>	H	H	,				Ļ		0			0	0	<b></b> 4	Pseudocompact
		0	0	-	-						,				<b>p4</b>		<b></b>						LOCALLY COMPACT
	1	0	0	μ	-	<b></b>			-		,		0	0	<b></b>								Strong Loc. Compact
	1	0	0	┉	<b></b> 4	-		-	μ		,		0	-					<b></b> 4	0	<b>}4</b>	, <b></b> _	σ-LOCALLY COMPACT
1	1	0	0		-	0		0	<b></b> 4	-	٠		-				<b></b>			0		-	SEPARABLE
	-	0	0	0		0		0	<del>, , ,</del>	<b>}4</b>	۴		0		<b></b>					0		,	SECOND COUNTABLE
	<b></b>	0	0	0	щ			-	<b>م</b>	(	,			4	<b></b>					┉	فسو	-	FIRST COUNTABLE
	1	<b></b> 4				0		0	-	-	٠		-		-	,			هــــ	0		-	Count. Chain Cond.
	<b>F</b>	0	0		-	<b></b>		فسنو	1		•		0	0		1					<u> </u>	-	PARACOMPACT
	<b></b>	0	0		نسو	<u> </u>		-	فسو	-	۲		0	0	μ							<u></u>	METACOMPACT
		0	0	-					<u> </u>		۲		0	0	<b>h</b> anat								COUNT. PARACOMPACT
	-	0	0		-	-		اسم			٠		0	0									COUNT. METACOMPACT
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	c	0	0	0	0		0		0				FULLY NORMAL
	0	0	0	0	0	-		-	-	-	¢	$\supset$	0	0	0		<b></b> 4		-	<b>س</b> ر	1		FULLY 14
		-		-	-	0			μ	-	•		<b></b>	<b></b> 4	<b></b> 1		0			0	0	0	CONNECTED
	<b>}</b>	0	0		0	0			<u> </u>	1	,						0			0	0	0	PATH CONNECTED
	1	0	0	-	0	0		0	0	0	c	0	0	0	0		0		I	0	0	0	Arc Connected
	1	-	-	-	Ļ	0		0	0	0	,	-			<b></b>		0		<b></b>	0	0	0	HYPERCONNECTED
	0	0	0	0	0	0		-		-	,	4	0	0	0		0		••	0	0	0	ULTRACONNECTED
	1	⊷	<u> </u>		<b></b> 1	<u>н</u> и		<b></b>	Н		,		-						-		<u>بر</u>	-	LOCALLY CONNECTED
	H	0	0		0	ш			H	<b></b> 4	,	-			<b></b> 4		<b>b6</b>		•4	<b>ا</b> سم		F	LOCAL PATH CONNECTED
	-	0	0	<u> </u>	0	0		0	0	0	c	0	0	0	0		0		ł	μ	-	1	LOCAL ARC CONNECTED
	0	0	0	0	0	0					,		<b></b> 4	-	<b></b>		0		I	0	0	0	BICONNECTED
	0	0	0	0	0	0				-	,		<b></b> 4				0		ł	0	0	0	HAS DISPERSION POINT
	0	0		0		0		0	0	0	Ċ	0	0	0	0		0		0		<b></b>		TOTALLY PATH DISC.
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	c	0	0	0	0		0		0			-	TOTALLY DISCONNECTED
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	¢	0	0	0	0		0		0	Ļ		1	TOTALLY SEPARATED
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	(	0	0	0	0		0		0		<b></b>		EXTREMALLY DISC.
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	(	0	0	0	0		<u> </u>				-	-	ZERO DIMENSIONAL
1																							•

Figure 3: Excerpt from *Counterexamples in Topology* [6]. Each row is a particular property of a space and each column is a specific topological space.

### Chapter 4

### MODAL LOGIC AND STRICT IMPLICATION LOGIC

Modal logic is an extension of propositional logic that includes modality operators [2]. Modality consists of qualifying a proposition by adding expressions like "usually," "necessarily," "possibly,"... The words used to express modality are called **modals**. For example, the sentence "The weather is sunny" could be qualified by saying "The weather is possibly sunny," or "The weather is usually sunny." Modals give an idea about the truthfulness of a statement by stating the circumstances under which the statement is true. Modal logic studies focus on the two modals "necessarily" and "possibly." However, the term modal logic, in general, refers to a family of logics that use different modals.

### 4.1 Language of modal logic

Modal logic is an extension of propositional logic that adds two unary modal operators  $\Box$  and  $\Diamond$  for necessarily and possibly, respectively [7]. The operator  $\Box$  could be expressed in terms of the operator  $\Diamond$ , and vice versa, through the following properties:

- 1.  $\Box A \leftrightarrow \neg \Diamond \neg A$
- 2.  $\Diamond A \leftrightarrow \neg \Box \neg A$

**Example 4.1.** In the following examples, we will use English sentences.

It is necessary that it will rain if and only if it is not possible that it will not rain today.
 In this example, the variable A is "It will rain" and the sentence shows □A ↔ ¬◊¬A,

It is possible that Marc will come today if and only if it is not necessary that Marc will not come today. In this example, the variable A is "Marc will come today" and the sentence shows ◊A ↔ ¬□¬A.

### 4.2 Modal logic rules

The base system of modal logic is called K. K is obtained by adding two rules to the propositional logic rules:

- 1. Necessitation rule: If A is a theorem of K, then so is  $\Box A$ . In other words, any theorem of K is necessary.
- 2. Distribution axiom:  $\Box(A \to B) \vdash (\Box A \to \Box B)$ . In other words, if it is necessary that A implies B, then necessary A implies necessary B.

The operator  $\Diamond$  is not used in the two rules because we can express it by using  $\Box$  as  $\Diamond A = \neg \Box \neg A$ .

#### 4.3 The semantics of modal logic

The semantics of modal logic are defined using frames. A **frame** is a pair  $\langle W, R \rangle$  where W is a set of worlds and R is an **accessibility relation** [7]. xRy means that the world y is "accessible" from the world x. When every world is accessible from every other, we call the frame a **Euclidean frame**. The system  $S_5$  is a complete modal logic system that has a Euclidean frame.

The accessibility relation is used to define truth values of formulas with modal operators. For example,  $\Box A$  is true in a world w if A is true in every world v such that wRv. In other words,  $\Box A$  is true in a world w if  $\Box A$  is true in every world accessible from w.  $\Box A$  implies A if the relation R is reflexive. In other words,  $\Box A$  implies A if every world is accessible from itself.

In case we have a Euclidean frame, A necessarily implies B means that every model that satisfies A also satisfies B. In other words, there is no model that satisfies A and does not satisfy *B*. However, *A* **possibly implies** *B* means that there is a least one model that satisfies *A* and *B*. So we can deduce that "A necessarily implies B" necessarily implies "A possibly implies B" and we get then  $\Box(\Box(A \to B) \to \Diamond(A \to B))$ .

### 4.4 Relationship between S-logic and modal logic

Suppose we have an alphabet A,  $\Gamma$  is a conjunction of letters  $A_1, ..., A_n$  from A, a letter X from A and an S-theory T.  $\Gamma \vdash X$  is in T means that every world that makes  $\Gamma$  true also makes X true. So we can deduce that the conjunction of  $A_1, ..., A_n$  necessarily implies X and then the translation of  $\Gamma \vdash X$  in modal logic will be  $\Box((A_1 \land ... \land A_n) \to X)$ .

The sequent  $\Gamma \nvDash X \in T$  means that there is a world that satisfies all the variables of  $\Gamma$ and not X. So the translation of  $\Gamma \nvDash X$  in modal logic will be  $\Diamond((A_1 \land ... \land A_n) \land \neg X)$  or  $\neg \Box((A_1 \land ... \land A_n) \to X).$ 

**Definition 4.2.** Given  $\Gamma = \{A_1, ..., A_n\}$ , we define a function  $\tau$  that translates sentences of S-logic into sentences of modal logic such that:

- 1.  $\tau(\Gamma \vdash x) = \Box((A_1 \land \ldots \land A_n) \to x)$
- 2.  $\tau(\Gamma \nvDash x) = \Diamond((A_1 \land \dots \land A_n) \land \neg X)$
- 3. If T is an S-theory,  $\tau(T) = \{\tau(\sigma) : \sigma \in T\}$

**Theorem 4.3.** Given any S-theory T and a sentence  $\sigma$ ,  $\sigma$  is deducible from T in S-logic if and only if  $\tau(\sigma)$  is deducible from  $\tau(T)$  in the modal system  $S_5$ .

*Proof.* By using Theorem 2.20, T is complete in S-logic so  $\sigma$  is deducible from T if and only if every set of worlds W sufficient for T is sufficient for  $T \cup \{\sigma\}$ . The system  $S_5$  is complete in modal logic, so  $\tau(\sigma)$  is deducible from  $\tau(T)$  if and only if every Euclidean frame F sufficient for  $\tau(T)$  is sufficient for  $\tau(T \cup \{\sigma\})$ .

The relationship between the set of worlds W and the Euclidean frame F can be defined in this way. Given W, we can define  $F = \langle W, R \rangle$ , where R is an accessibility relation such that every world in W is accessible from every other world in W. Conversely, if we have a Euclidean frame  $F = \langle W, R \rangle$ , we take the set of worlds W for the S-theory T in S-logic. Then a set of worlds W is sufficient for an S-theory T if and only if  $\langle W, R \rangle$  satisfies  $\tau(T)$ 

### 4.5 Difference between S-logic and modal logic

The difference between S-logic and modal logic is the statement structure of the statements. In modal logic, we can have nested connectives like  $\Box(\neg \Diamond A \rightarrow B)$ , which is not possible in S-logic. Also the hypothesis of a statement in S-logic can just be a conjunction of letters but in modal logic we can have more complicated hypothesis like  $\Box(\Diamond(A \rightarrow B) \rightarrow D)$ .

### 4.6 Strict implication logic

The implication  $A \to B$  in standard propositional logic have sometimes interpretation problems in natural language. For example, if we take the sentence "If the sky is green, then 1+1=2". This sentence is true in standard propositional logic because "The sky is green" is false and "1+1=2" is true, so  $F \to T$  is true. However the implication in the original sentence is not true. So the strict implication logic defines a new implication by using the modal operator  $\Box$  used in modal logic and the propositional logic implication  $A \vdash B$  [3]. We say that A strictly implies B by using the formula  $\Box(A \vdash B)$ , which means that A implies B in every possible world. In strict implication logic, we use the symbol  $\supset$ and  $A \supset B$  means A strictly implies B.

### 4.7 Relationship between S-logic and strict implication logic

 $A \supset B$  in modal logic is  $\Box(A \to B)$  so the translation of  $\Gamma \vdash X$  in strict implication logic will be  $A_1 \land A_2 \dots \land A_n \supset X$ . Similarly,  $A \not\supseteq B$  in modal logic is  $\neg \Box(A \to B)$  so the translation of  $\Gamma \nvDash X$ , in strict implication logic, will be  $A_1 \land A_2 \dots \land A_n \not\supseteq X$ .

Thus, if we have a complete system in strict implication logic, we can define a function that translates sentences of S-logic into sentences of strict implication logic like the function  $\tau$  defined in modal logic, and we obtain the same results of Theorem 4.3.

### REFERENCES

- [1] Herbert B. Enderton, A mathematical introduction to logic, 2nd ed., Harcourt Academic Press, 2001.
- [2] G. E. Hughes and M. J. Cresswell, A new introduction to modal logic, Routledge, 1996.
- [3] M. G. Jansen, A. Th. Schreiber, and B. J. Wielinga, Using strict implication in background theories for abductive tasks, University of Amsterdam, Social Science Informatics, 2001, http://www.cs.vu.nl/guus/papers/Jansen01a.pdf.
- [4] Stephen G. Simpson, Subsystems of second order arithmetic, 2nd ed., Perspectives in Logic, Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [5] Sean Sovine, *The implicational logic of reverse mathematics*, Marshall University Undergraduate Mathematics Capstone, 2011.
- [6] Lynn Arthur Steen and J. Arthur Seebach Jr., Counterexamples in topology, Dover, 1995.
- [7] Edward N. Zalta, Basic concepts in modal logic, Center for the Study of Language and Information, 1995, http://mally.stanford.edu/notes.pdf.

### Alaeddine Saadaoui

Born September 14, 1982 in Feriana, Gasserine, Tunisia

### Education

- Master of Science. National School of Computer Sciences, Tunisia, May 2008. Thesis Advisor: Dr. Yassine Jamoussi.
- Bachelor of Science. National School of Computer Sciences, Tunisia, May 2006.

### Publications

- 1. Web Services Composition Guided by the User's Intentions, Master's Thesis, National School of Computer Sciences, Tunisia, May 2008.
- 2. On the Logic of Reverse Mathematics, Master's Thesis, Marshall University, USA, May 2012.